DATED 2<sup>nd</sup> JULY 2019

Between

# GOLDEN DIAMOND INC.

as Chargor

and

# NOBLE WISDOM EVER LIMITED

as Chargee

# **SHARE CHARGE**

relating to certain issued shares of

**KEE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED (Stock Code:2011)** 

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Clause		Page Number
1.	INTERPRETATION	1
2.	FIXED CHARGE AND ASSIGNMENT	8
3.	RESTRICTIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE	10
4.	CHARGED SHARES	15
5.	GENERAL UNDERTAKINGS	18
6.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	19
7.	ENFORCEMENT	22
8.	RECEIVER	24
9.	WIDE CONSTRUCTION OF ENFORCEMENT POWERS	27
10.	CHARGEE'S RIGHTS	27
11.	ORDER OF DISTRIBUTIONS	28
12.	LIABILITY OF THE CHARGEE AND DELEGATES	28
13.	POWER OF ATTORNEY	29
14.	PROTECTION OF THIRD PARTIES	30
15.	SAVING PROVISIONS	31
16.	DISCHARGE OF SECURITY	34
17.	EXPENSES, STAMP DUTY AND INTEREST	34
18.	PAYMENTS	35
19.	TAX GROSS UP	36
20.	OTHER INDEMNITIES	37
21.	SET-OFF	39
22.	EVENTS OF DEFAULT	39
23.	RIGHTS, AMENDMENTS, WAIVERS AND DETERMINATIONS	41
24.	PARTIAL INVALIDITY	42
25	NOTICES	42

26.	CHANGES TO PARTIES4	3
27.	COUNTERPARTS4	4
28.	GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 4	4
29.	THIRD PARTY RIGHTS	5
30.	WAIVER OF IMMUNITY4	5
SCHEDUL	E 1 RIGHTS OF CHARGEE	17
	E 2 FORMS OF LETTER OF INSTRUCTION, STANDARD FORMS OF TRANSFE	
SCHEDUL	E 3 FORM OF NOTICE TO THE CUSTODIAN	53
SCHEDULI	E 4 POWER OF ATTORNEY AND PROXY	57

THIS DEED is made on

2nd

July 2019

#### BETWEEN:

- (1) GOLDEN DIAMOND INC., a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands with company number 2008058 whose registered office is at Mandar House, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor, Johnson's Ghut, Tortola, British Virgin Islands, as chargor (the "Chargor"); and
- (2) NOBLE WISDOM EVER LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands with company number 1944153 whose registered office is at Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, VG1110, British Virgin Islandsas chargee (the "Chargee", which expression includes its successors and permitted assigns).

### **BACKGROUND:**

- (A) By a loan agreement (the "Loan Agreement") dated [为 ] July 2019 made between the Chargor, China Sun Corporation and Central Eagle Limited as borrowers (collectively the "Borrowers"), 黔南州黔山资源开发有限责任公司 as corporate guarantor,林萍, 庄卫东 and 邱传智 as personal guarantors and the Chargee as lender, the Chargee has agreed to make available to the Borrowers a secured term loan facility in the maximum aggregate principal amount of HK\$546,852,259.20 subject to and upon the terms and conditions therein contained.
- (B) As a continuing security for the Secured Obligations (as defined below), the Chargor entered into this Deed to provide security herein in favour of the Chargee and intends this Deed to take effect as a deed of the Chargor (notwithstanding that the Chargee may have executed it under hand only).

#### THIS DEED WITNESSES THE FOLLOWING:

### 1. INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1 Definitions

Terms defined in the Loan Agreement (as defined below) shall, unless otherwise defined in this Deed or unless the context otherwise requires, bear the same meaning when used in this Deed and the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Additional Rights" means, in relation to the Charged Shares:

- (a) the proceeds of sale of the Charged Shares or any part thereof;
- (b) any monies and proceeds paid or payable in relation to the Charged Shares; and

(c) the benefit of all other rights, powers, claims, consents, contracts, warranties, security, guarantees, indemnities or covenants for title in respect of the Charged Shares, including the Dividends.

Affiliate: in relation to any person, any person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under the common control with such person or entity; and for the purposes of this definition only, "control" means (i) the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management or policies of a person or entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise, or (ii) the ownership, directly or indirectly, of at least 50% of the voting securities or other ownership interest of a person or entity.

"Authorisation" means an authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, licence, filing, notarisation, registration or exemption.

"Borrowers" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Background (A).

"BVI BC Act" means BVI Business Companies Act 2004 of the British Virgin Islands (as amended, revised and supplemented from time to time).

"CCASS" means the Central Clearing and Settlement System operated by HKSCC.

"Charged Assets" means the assets from time to time subject, or expressed to be subject, to the Charges.

"Charged Company" means KEE Holdings Company Limited, a limited company incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with company number F17869 whose registered office is at 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman Islands, the ordinary shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with stock code 2011.HK.

"Charged Shares" means all the Shares which are beneficially owned by the Chargor, whether held in certificated form or uncertificated form, which are deposited or to be deposited or held or to be held in any Custodian Account and/or which are transferred or to be transferred by or on behalf of the Chargor into a stock account in the name of a Custodian with CCASS.

"Charges" means all or any of the Security created or expressed to be created by or pursuant to this Deed.

"Clearing Accounts" means the accounts and records which a Clearing System maintains, or at any time in the future may open, in the name of the Chargor in respect of any Charged Shares delivered to it by the Chargor.

"Clearing System" means CCASS and any other clearing system agreed by the Chargor and the Chargee and, in the context of a Custodian Account, the Custodian.

Code: the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

"Companies Ordinance" means the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

"CPO" means the Conveyancing and Property Ordinance (Cap. 219 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

### "Custodian" means:

- (a) **LEGO SECURITIES LIMITED**, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and having its registered office situated at 301, 3/F, China Building, 29 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong; or
- (b) any other entity nominated by the Chargee to provide nominee services in respect of the Charged Shares which are held in CCASS.

#### "Custodian Account" means:

- (a) the securities account with account number AC88770 opened and maintained in the name of the Chargor with the Custodian; or
- (b) such other account maintained with the Custodian in the name of the Chargor into which any Charged Shares or Additional Rights are or will be deposited into or are the subject of the securities arrangement (including any bookentry arrangement) to such account, including any account designated as such by the Chargor and the Chargee,

(including any account(s) being a renewal, re-designation or replacement of the Custodian Account from time to time).

"Deed" means this deed of share charge.

"Delegate" means a delegate or sub-delegate appointed under Clause 10.2 (Delegation).

"Deposit" means at any time, the balance standing to the credit of the Custodian Account at that time and all rights, benefits and proceeds in respect thereof.

"Dividends" means, in respect of the Chargor, all present and future:

- (a) dividends and distributions of any kind including cash dividends, stock dividends, liquidating dividends, non-cash dividends and any other sum received or receivable in respect of any of the Charged Shares;
- (b) rights, shares, money or other assets accruing or offered by way of stock splits or reclassifications redemption, bonus, option or otherwise in respect of any of the Charged Shares;
- (c) allotments, offers, warrants and rights accruing or offered in respect of any of the Charged Shares; and
- (d) other rights and assets attaching to, deriving from or exercisable by virtue of the ownership of, any of the Charged Shares.

"Enforcement Notice" means any written notice given by the Chargee to the Chargor after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing stating that the Charges have become enforceable.

"Event of Default" means any event or circumstance specified as such in Clause 22 (Events of Default).

"General Offer" means the unconditional mandatory cash offer to be made by or on behalf of the Borrowers to the shareholders of the ListCo (other than the Borrowers and parties with whom the Borrowers are acting in concert (as such term is defined in the Code) for their ListCo Shares in compliance with the Code.

"HKSCC" means Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or its successor(s).

"Loan Agreement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Background (A).

"Obligors" means the Chargor and each party to a Finance Document (other than the Chargee) (each, an "Obligor").

"Party" means a party to this Deed and includes its successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees.

"Placing" means the sale to the public of certain shares acquired pursuant to the SPA and the General Offer in the event that the proportion of the public shareholding of the Charged Company falls below the public float requirement of 25% to restore the minimum public float of the Charged Company.

"Receiver" means a receiver and/or manager (and/or any other analogous person under any relevant jurisdiction, including a judicial manager, administrative receiver, administrator or provisional supervisor) appointed pursuant to this Deed in respect of the Charged Assets.

"Security" means a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement having a similar effect.

"Secured Obligations" means all present and future obligations and liabilities (whether actual or contingent and whether owed jointly or severally or in any other capacity) of the Obligors to the Chargee under each Finance Document.

"Security Period" means the period beginning on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably and unconditionally paid and discharged in full and in accordance with the provisions of this Deed.

"Shares" means shares of HK\$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the Charged Company.

"Tax" means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same).

# 1.2 Expressions relating to CCASS

Expressions used in Clauses 4 (Charged shares), 3.9 (Reversal/reduction of CCASS credits) and 3.8 (Registration and security filings), unless the context otherwise requires, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the General Rules of CCASS including, where the context permits, the Operational Procedures (as defined therein), as from time to time in force ("General Rules of CCASS"). For reference purposes, the following terms have, as at the date hereof, the following meanings under the General Rules of CCASS:

"Broker Participant" means a Participant admitted to participate in CCASS as a Broker Participant.

"Clearing Agency Participant" means a Participant admitted to participate in CCASS as a Clearing Agency Participant.

"Clearing Agency Transaction" means a transaction, other than a SI Transaction, between a Participant other than an Investor Participant and a Clearing Agency Participant for settlement in CCASS as referred to in Rule 902.

"Collateral Security" means an Eligible Security which is from time to time held by or deposited with HKSCC by a Broker Participant for credit into the General Stock Collateral Account of such Participant, in accordance with Rule 3608.

"Debt Securities" means an issue of debenture or loan stock, debentures, bonds and notes and other securities or instruments, either interest bearing or non-interest bearing.

acknowledging, evidencing or creating indebtedness whether secured or unsecured, options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe or purchase any other foregoing and convertible debt securities.

"Delivery Instruction" means an instruction of a Participant in such form as HKSCC may from time to time prescribe as being valid to effect book-entry delivery of Eligible Securities in CCASS to another Participant in respect of transactions in Eligible Securities accepted for settlement in CCASS, as referred to in Rule 1003.

"Eligible Security" means an issue of securities including Debt Securities which is from time to time accepted as eligible by HKSCC for deposit, clearance and settlement in CCASS in accordance with Rule 501, and where the context so requires, shall include any particular security or securities of such an issue.

"Exchange Trade" means a trade in an Eligible Security between two Broker Participants effected on or reported to the Exchange.

"General Stock Collateral Account" means, in relation to each Broker Participant, the Stock Account in CCASS of such Participant to which are credited the Collateral Securities of such Participant, as referred to in Rule 601).

"Investor Participant" means a person admitted to participate in CCASS as an Investor Participant who may be an individual or joint individuals or a corporation.

"Participant" means a person admitted for the time being by HKSCC as a participant in CCASS.

"Settlement Instruction" or "SI" means an instruction of a Participant, in such form as HKSCC may from time to time prescribe as being valid, relating to transactions in Eligible Securities (other than Exchange Trades or Clearing Agency Transactions) to be settled in CCASS, as referred to in Rule 904.

"SI Transaction" means a transaction to be settled in CCASS between two Participants other than Investor Participants as a result of the input of a Settlement Instruction, authorised, if required, by each Participant (such Settlement Instructions being matched in CCASS).

"Stock Account" means, in relation to each Broker Participant, each Stock Clearing Account, Stock Segregated Account and General Stock Collateral Account; in relation to each Investor Participant, each Stock Clearing Account; and, in relation to each Participant other than a Broker Participant and an Investor Participant, each Stock Clearing Account and Stock Segregated Account, allocated to and operated by it in which Eligible Securities of such Participant are credited or debited, as referred to in Rule 601.

"Stock Clearing Account" means, in relation to each Participant, the main Stock Account in CCASS of such Participant used for settlement purposes, as referred to in Rule 601.

"Stock Segregated Accounts" means, in relation to each Broker Participant, the Stock Accounts in CCASS of such Participant other than its Stock Clearing Account and General Stock Collateral Account and in relation to each Participant other than a Broker Participant and an Investor Participant, the Stock Accounts in CCASS of such Participant other than its Stock Clearing Account, as referred to in Rule 601.

#### 1.3 Construction

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears, any reference or references in this Deed to:
  - (i) "Chargee", "Chargor", "Obligor" and "Party" and any other person shall be construed so as to include its successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees;
  - (ii) any form of property or asset shall include a reference to all or any part of that property or asset;
  - (iii) "assets" includes present and future properties, revenues and rights of every description;
  - (iv) a Charged Asset includes the proceeds of sale of that Charged Asset;
  - (v) a "regulation" includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation;
  - (vi) a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or reenacted from time to time;
  - (vii) Clauses and Schedules are to clauses of and schedules to this Deed;
  - (viii) the word "including" is without limitation; and
  - (ix) the words "other", "or otherwise" and "whatsoever" shall not be construed ejusdem generis or be construed as any limitation upon the generality of any preceding words or matters specifically referred to.
  - (b) The Charges shall be and are "enforceable" in accordance with Clause 7 (Enforcement) only.
  - (c) An Event of Default is regarded as "continuing" if it has not been remedied or waived by the Chargee.

- (d) Any covenant of the Chargor under this Deed (other than a payment obligation) remains in force during the Security Period.
- (e) In the context of the rights, powers, privileges, discretions and immunities conferred on any Chargee or a Receiver, references to "charge" or "mortgage" in any provision of the CPO shall, for the purposes of this Deed, be deemed to be references to the Charges and references to "mortgaged land" in any provision of the CPO shall, for the purposes of this Deed, be deemed to be references to the Charged Assets.
- (f) If an amount paid to the Chargee under any Finance Document or any Charges is being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation of the payer or otherwise, then that amount will not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purposes of this Deed.

#### 2. FIXED CHARGE AND ASSIGNMENT

# 2.1 Charge and assignment

The Chargor, as continuing security for the payment or discharge of all Secured Obligations:

- (a) as beneficial owner of the Charged Shares charges in favour of the Chargee, by way of a first fixed charge all its rights, title and interest present and future in and to the Charged Shares and Additional Rights except to the extent that the rights will be subject to an assignment under paragraph (c) below;
- (b) as legal and beneficial owner of each Custodian Account charges in favour of the Chargee, by way of a first fixed charge all its rights, title and interest present and future in and to each Custodian Account, the Clearing Accounts and the Deposit except to the extent that the rights will be subject to an assignment under paragraph (c) below; and
- (c) as legal and beneficial owner of each Custodian Account assigns, and agrees to assign absolutely to the Chargee all its rights (including those rights it may have against a nominee), present and future relating to any of the Charged Shares which are held in CCASS and deposited into such Custodian Account and against the Custodian in respect of such Custodian Account and its interest in such Custodian Account and the Clearing Accounts, including:
  - (i) its rights against a Clearing System and the Custodian, including rights relating to or against any depositary, custodian, nominee, clearing house

- or system, investment manager or similar person with whom any of the Charged Shares may be deposited to the extent of those Charged Shares;
- (ii) rights it may have against any person to require delivery to it of any of such Charged Shares;
- (iii) rights (contractually or otherwise) to give instructions relating to such Charged Shares, the Deposit or its interest in such Custodian Account; and
- (iv) any monies payable to the Chargor and any claims, awards or judgements and other rights to receive moneys due or to become due for any reason whatsoever in respect of such Charged Shares, or its interest in any Custodian Account and the Clearing Account, including those rights it may have against a nominee as Delegate.

### 2.2 Share registration

The Chargor agrees that at any time after the Charges become enforceable, the Chargee may, at the cost of the Chargor, register all or any of the Charged Shares in the name of the Chargee or its nominee or other Delegate.

#### 2.3 Retention of documents

Subject to the release of any documents upon partial release pursuant to Clause 16 (Discharge of security), the Chargee shall be entitled to continue to hold any document delivered to it pursuant to Clause 3.3 (Delivery of documents) until the Charges are released and if, for any reason (other than pursuant to Clause 16 (Discharge of security), it releases any such document to the Chargor before such time, the Chargee may by notice to the Chargor require that such document be redelivered to the Chargee and the Chargor shall immediately comply with that requirement or procure that it is complied with.

### 2.4 Withdrawals from the Custodian Account

- (a) In the event that after completion of the General Offer, the proportion of the shareholding of the Charged Company held by the public falls below the prescribed public float requirement under the Listing Rules, the Chargor shall be entitled to take or procure all necessary steps, including but not limited to the Placing.
- (b) Save with the Chargee's prior written consent, the Chargor shall not be entitled to receive, withdraw or otherwise transfer any of the Deposit or any Shares standing to the credit of any Custodian Account, other than the Placing pursuant to Clause 2.4(a) and the withdrawal of any Dividends pursuant to Clause 4.3(a);

- (c) the Chargor shall, at all times during the Security Period, procure that the Custodian shall maintain an up-to-date record of (i) the Charged Shares held in the Custodian Account, and (ii) the Deposit held in the Custodian Account reflecting its ownership interest in such Shares and Deposit;
- (d) the Chargor agrees that at any time after the Charges become enforceable, the Chargee may, without notice or further demand, at the cost of the Chargor, immediately exercise all the rights, powers and remedies possessed by it according to law as beneficial owner of any Charged Shares standing to the credit of any Custodian Account (and as assignee and/or chargee of the Chargor's right, title and interest in and to the Deposit) and to:
  - (i) demand and receive all and any monies due under or arising out of the Custodian Account and any Charged Shares standing to the credit of the Custodian Account;
  - (ii) exercise, all such rights that the Chargee and/or the Chargor was/were then entitled to exercise or might, but for the terms of this Deed, exercise, in relation to such Deposit or such Charged Shares; and
  - (iii) apply, set-off or transfer any or all of the Deposit or any Charged Shares standing to the credit of the Custodian Account in or towards the payment or satisfaction of the Secured Obligations or any part thereof; and
- (e) the Chargor shall not, without the Chargee's prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed):
  - (i) close any Custodian Account; or
  - (ii) agree to any variation of the rights attaching to any Deposit or the Custodian Account.

### 2.5 General

All Security created under this Deed is created in favour of the Chargee.

#### 3. RESTRICTIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE

#### 3.1 Security

The Chargor shall not create or attempt to create or permit to subsist any Security over or affecting the Charged Assets or any part of them, except as created by this Deed.

# 3.2 Disposal

The Chargor shall not (and shall not agree to) enter into a single transaction or a series of transactions (whether related or not and whether voluntary or involuntary) to sell, lease, withdraw, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of the Charged Assets or any part of them, save for any Placing permitted under Clause 2.4(a) and any withdrawal of Dividends permitted under Clause 4.3(a).

### 3.3 Delivery of documents

- (a) The Chargor shall deliver or procure that there shall be delivered to the Chargee the following documents immediately upon the execution of this Deed and/or upon it becoming the beneficial owner of the Charged Shares (as the case may be):
  - (i) (where applicable) share certificates or other documents of title in respect of any relevant Charged Shares that are held in certificated form (as soon as practicable after they are available to the Chargor);
  - (ii) immediately upon the execution of this Deed, three (3)) sets of the duly executed standard forms of transfer and contract notes in respect of the Charged Shares substantially set out in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Forms of Letter of Instruction, Standard Forms of Transfer and Contract Notes) but, in each case, with the dates and names of the transferees left blank;
  - (iii) the irrevocable proxy and power of attorney executed by the Chargor in favour of the Chargee in the form set out in Schedule 4 (*Power of Attorney and Proxy*); and
  - (iv) duly certified copies of all resolutions and authorisations by its directors (or other officers if applicable) approving the execution of this Deed and any documents required to be executed and delivered to the Chargee under this Deed.
- (b) The Chargor shall deliver or procure that there shall be delivered to the Chargee the following documents in relation to any Charged Assets deposited in any Custodian Account and which are held in CCASS upon the execution of this Deed:
  - (i) duly executed letter of instructions to the Custodian substantially set out in the form set out in ScheduleSCHEDULE 2 (Forms of Letter of Instruction, Standard Forms of Transfer and Contract Notes) but with the date and name of the transferee left blank;

- (ii) such documents as are necessary to procure that, after the Charges have become enforceable, those Charged Assets which are deposited into any Custodian Account will be credited by means of an SI and a related Delivery Instruction to the Chargee's or, as appropriate, its nominee's relevant Stock Account (or other securities account) and notice to the holder of a Stock Account in a form approved by the Chargee; and
- (iii) all other documents reasonably necessary to enable the Chargee to register such Charged Assets in its name or in the name of its nominees or any Delegate, after the delivery of an Enforcement Notice.
- (c) At any time after the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargee shall have the right to complete, date and put into effect the documents referred to in subparagraphs (a)(ii) and (b) above and Clause 3.4(c).

# 3.4 Additional Rights

The Chargor shall promptly, and in any event within five (5) Business Days upon its reasonable knowledge of the occurrence of any declaration, payment, accrual, offer or issue of any Additional Rights or any Charged Assets becoming subject to the Charges after the date of this Deed:

- (a) notify the Chargee of such occurrence;
- (b) procure the delivery to the Chargee or as the Chargee may reasonably direct of all bearer instruments, share certificates or other documents of title representing such items (if applicable) at any time after the Charges become enforceable;
- (c) as the Chargee may reasonably require, execute and deliver (and, if required to be stamped, pre-stamped) contract notes, transfer forms or other forms of transfer in respect of such items in favour of the Chargee and/or its nominee(s) as transferees or any purchaser or, if the Chargee so reasonably directs, with the transferee left blank and such other documents as may be reasonably requested by the Chargee in order to enable the Chargee or its nominees or any purchaser to be registered as the owner or otherwise to obtain a legal title to such items at any time after the Charges are enforceable; and
- (d) if such Charged Assets are to be deposited into CCASS,

- (i) provide the Chargee with all other documentation required to enable those Charged Assets to be deposited in CCASS as Eligible Securities; and
- (ii) after the Charges have become enforceable, arrange for those Charged Assets to be credited, by means of an SI and a related Delivery Instruction, to the Chargee's or its nominee's Stock Account (or other securities account).

#### 3.5 Perfection of title

At any time after the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargor shall in respect of any part of the Charged Shares that are held in certificated form:

- (a) procure that all contract notes, transfer forms and other forms of transfer referred to in Clauses 3.3 (*Delivery of documents*) and 3.4(c) (*Additional Rights*) are, at the reasonable request of the Chargee, forthwith registered by the Charged Company and that share certificates or other documents of title in the name of the Chargee and/or its nominee(s) or in the name of any purchaser (under the powers of realisation conferred by this Deed) in respect of the relevant Charged Assets are then promptly (and in any event within five (5) Business Days of its receipt of such relevant contract notes, transfer forms and any other documents which are required to effect such registration) delivered to the Chargee; and
- (b) from time to time promptly, and in any event within five (5) Business Days, execute and sign any other transfers, contract notes, powers of attorney or other documents which the Chargee may reasonably require:
  - (i) for perfecting its title or the title of any purchaser (under the powers of realisation conferred by this Deed and/or applicable law) to any of the Charged Assets; or
  - (ii) for vesting any of the Charged Assets in the Chargee or its nominee or in any purchaser (under the powers of realisation conferred by this Deed and/or applicable law).

#### 3.6 Notice to Custodian

### The Chargor shall:

(a) on the date of this Deed (or, immediately upon any account becoming a Custodian Account after the date of this Deed, as the case may be) provide a notice to the relevant Custodian in the form set out in SCHEDULE 3 (Form of Notice to the Custodian) (or in such other form in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Chargee) and shall procure that such Custodian gives an acknowledgement in the form attached to such notice or otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Chargee.

#### 3.7 Further assurance

The Chargor shall promptly do whatever the Chargee reasonably requires:

- (a) to perfect (by registration or in any other way), create, maintain or protect the Charges or the priority of the Charges;
- (b) (at the expense of the Chargor) to facilitate the realisation of the Charged Assets or the exercise of any rights vested in the Chargee, any Delegate or any Receiver after the Charges become enforceable; and/or
- (c) to adequately protect the Chargee's interest under this Deed.

# 3.8 Registration and security filings

Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 3.7 (Further assurance):

- (a) the Chargor shall:
  - (i) within five (5) Business Days after execution of this Deed, create and maintain a register of charges (the "Register of Charges") of the Chargor in accordance with section 162 of the BVI BC Act;
  - (ii) promptly, in any event within five (5) Business Days of the date of this Deed, enter particulars as required by the BVI BC Act of the Charges in the Register of Charges and as soon as practicable after entry of such particulars has been made, and in any event within twenty-one (21) Business Days of the date of this Deed, provide the Chargee with a certified true copy of the updated Register of Charges;
  - (iii) promptly effect registration, or if requested by the Chargee assist the Chargee in effecting registration, of the particulars of the Charges created by this Deed with the Registrar of Corporate Affairs of the

British Virgin Islands (the "Registrar of Corporate Affairs") pursuant to section 163 of the BVI BC Act by making the required filing, or assisting the Chargee in making the required filing, in the approved form with the Registrar of Corporate Affairs and (if applicable) provide confirmation in writing to the Chargee that such filing has been made within no later than fourteen (14) Business Days after the date of this Deed;

- (iv) if the registration referred to in paragraph (iii) above is not being effected by or on behalf of the Chargee, as soon as practicable on receipt, and in any event within twenty-one (21) Business Days of the date of this Deed, deliver or procure to be delivered to the Chargee, the certificate of registration of charge issued by the Registrar of Corporate Affairs evidencing that the requirements of Part VIII of the BVI BC Act as to registration have been complied with and the filed stamped copy of the register of charges containing the relevant particulars of this Deed;
- (v) if the Chargor becomes registered under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance, it shall register particulars of the Charges with the Companies Registry in Hong Kong, promptly upon and in any event within one month of it being registered under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance.

#### 3.9 Reversal/reduction of CCASS credits

If at any time by reason of the exercise of any of the rights of HKSCC, whether under Rule 602 of the General Rules of CCASS or otherwise, any credit entries in the Stock Account of the Chargee or its nominee which relate or which, in the reasonable opinion of the Chargee, relate to the Charged Assets are reduced or reversed in whole or in part, the Chargor shall forthwith upon notification by the Chargee or its nominee, cause to be delivered to the Stock Account of the Chargee or, as appropriate, its nominee replacement Charged Assets which will result in the relevant credit entries being restored to the level immediately preceding the reduction or reversal.

#### 4. CHARGED SHARES

### 4.1 Voting and other rights until the Charges become enforceable

Until the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargor shall be entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting and other rights attached to the Charged Shares as it sees fit provided that:

- (a) it does so for a purpose not inconsistent with any Finance Document; and
- (b) the exercise or failure to exercise those rights would not otherwise prejudice the interests of the Chargee.

### 4.2 Voting and other rights if the Charges become enforceable

At any time after the Charges have become enforceable:

- (a) the Chargee shall be entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting and other rights attached to any Charged Share as it sees fit; and
- (b) the Chargor shall comply or procure the compliance with any directions of the Chargee in respect of the exercise of those rights and shall promptly following a written request by the Chargee execute and/or deliver to the Chargee such forms of proxy as it may require in connection with that exercise.

#### 4.3 Dividends

- (a) Until the Charges have become enforceable, all Dividends in the form of cash shall be deposited into a Custodian Account and may be withdrawn from the Custodian Account by the Chargor with the consent of the Chargee (such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
- (b) When the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargor shall hold any Dividend received by it on trust for the Chargee and pay to the Chargee all Dividends, in cash or otherwise as the Chargee may direct. The Chargee shall be entitled to apply the same whether in cash or otherwise towards the discharge of the Secured Obligations as it sees fit.
- (c) All Dividends received by the Chargor contrary to the provisions of this Clause 4.3 (*Dividends*) shall be:
  - (i) held in trust for the benefit of the Chargee;
  - (ii) segregated from other property or funds of the Chargor; and
  - (iii) forthwith delivered to the Chargee in the same form as so received (with any necessary endorsement).
- (d) The Chargor shall promptly, and in any event within five (5) Business Days, notify the Chargee of its acquisition of, or agreement to acquire, any Additional Rights in respect of Charged Shares and in any event within five (5) Business Days upon its reasonable knowledge of any declaration, payment, allotment, offer or issue of any Dividend.

#### 4.4 Communications

The Chargor shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within 10 Business Days after receipt, deliver to the Chargee a copy of every circular, notice, report, set of accounts or other documents received by it or its nominee in connection with the Charged Shares or in connection with or from the Charged Company.

### 4.5 Payment of calls etc.

The Chargor must promptly pay or procure the payment of all calls, instalments or other payments due and payable in respect of any of the Charged Assets.

### 4.6 Power of attorney

If any Charged Share is not held in the Chargor's name other than pursuant to this Deed, the Chargor shall promptly execute and deliver to the Chargee an irrevocable power of attorney expressed to be given by way of security and executed as a deed by the person in whose name that Charged Share is held. That power of attorney shall appoint the Chargee and every Delegate the attorney of the holder and shall be substantially in the form of the power of attorney in Clause 13 (*Power of attorney*) of this Deed.

# 4.7 Other obligations in respect of Charged Assets

- (a) The Chargor must promptly copy to the Chargee and comply with all reasonable requests for information which is within its knowledge and which are mandatorily required under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or any other applicable laws or in any similar provision contained in any articles of association or other constitutional document relating to any of the Charged Assets. If it fails to do so, the Chargee may elect to provide such information as it may have on behalf of the Chargor.
- (b) The Chargor must comply with all other conditions and obligations assumed by it in respect of any of the Charged Assets.
- (c) The Chargee is not obliged to:
  - (i) perform any obligation of the Chargor;
  - (ii) make any payment, or to make any enquiry as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment received by it or the Chargor; or

(iii) present or file any claim or take any other action to collect or enforce the payment of any amount to which it may be entitled under this Deed,

in respect of any Charged Assets.

# 4.8 Ownership of Charged Assets

After the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargee may, at option of the Chargee by written notice and at the cost of the Chargor, instruct the Clearing System or the relevant Custodian to transfer the relevant Charged Assets from the relevant Custodian Account into an account in the name of, or nominated by, the Chargee, and the Chargor agrees that in such circumstances and at the request of the Chargee it shall arrange for those Charged Assets to be credited to the Chargee or its nominee's securities account.

### 5. GENERAL UNDERTAKINGS

#### 5.1 Authorisations

- (a) The Chargor shall promptly:
  - (i) obtain, comply with and do all that is reasonably necessary to maintain in full force and effect; and
  - (ii) supply certified copies to the Chargee of,

any Authorisation reasonably required under any law or regulation of its jurisdiction of incorporation to enable it to perform its obligations under this Deed and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation of this Deed.

(b) The Chargor shall promptly make or file any of the registrations specified in Clause 6.5 (*Validity and admissibility in evidence*) and 3.8 (*Registration and security filings*) within any prescribed time limit(s), if any.

### 5.2 Compliance with laws

The Chargor shall comply in all respects with all laws to which it is subject, if failure so to comply would materially impair its ability to perform any of its obligations under this Deed.

# 5.3 No prejudicial conduct

The Chargor shall not do, or permit to be done, anything which would (in the reasonable opinion of the Chargee) depreciate, jeopardise or otherwise prejudice the Charges or diminish the value of the Charged Assets or the effectiveness of the Charges.

#### 5.4 Custodian Account

The Chargor shall discharge all amounts and other obligations due or owed to a Custodian in connection with the Charged Assets and the Custodian Account when due to the extent not contrary to the terms of this Deed.

#### 6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Chargor makes the representations and warranties set out in this Clause 6 to the Chargee on the date of this Deed.

# 6.1 Status and capacity

- (a) it is a company duly incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation; and
- (b) it has the power to own its assets and carry on its business as it is being conducted.

# 6.2 **Binding obligations**

Subject to the general principles of law limiting its obligations, the obligations expressed to be assumed by the Chargor in this Deed and any other documents executed by it pursuant to or in connection with this Deed are legal, valid, binding and enforceable.

### 6.3 Non-conflict with other obligations

The entry into and performance by the Chargor of, and the transactions contemplated by, this Deed or any Finance Document to which it is a party do not and will not conflict with or constitute a default under or breach of:

- (a) any law or regulation applicable to it;
- (b) the constitutional documents of the Chargor and the Charged Company; or

(c) any agreement or instrument binding upon it or any of its assets (including the Loan Agreement),

nor (except for the Charges) result in the existence of, or oblige it to create, any Security over any of the Charged Assets.

### 6.4 Power and authority

It has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise its entry into, performance and delivery of, this Deed and any other documents executed by it pursuant to or in connection with this Deed.

# 6.5 Validity and admissibility in evidence

All Authorisations required or desirable to:

- (a) enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and comply with its obligations in this Deed;
- (b) make this Deed admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation; and
- (c) enable it to create the Charges and to ensure that the Charges have and will have the priority and ranking which they are expressed to have,

have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect save for the making of the appropriate filings of the Charges created by this Deed in accordance with Clause 3.8 (*Registration and security filings*) which shall be completed promptly within the relevant time limit (if any).

## 6.6 Legal and beneficial ownership

The Chargor is the sole beneficial owner of the Charged Assets and the Charged Shares.

### 6.7 Shares fully paid etc.

- (a) The Charged Shares and to the extent applicable, the other Charged Assets, are duly authorised, validly issued and fully paid and are not subject to any option to purchase or similar rights.
- (b) The Charged Assets are transferable and not subject to any restriction by any law or contract (including any conditional or unconditional outstanding

option, warrant or other convertible, subscription, acquisition or purchase rights granted to any person) or otherwise.

# 6.8 No proceedings pending or threatened

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Chargor, no litigation, investigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings of or before any court, arbitral body or agency is pending or threatened by or against the Chargor with respect to the Charged Assets, this Deed or the transaction contemplated by this Deed which may have any material adverse effect on the Chargor's ability to observe any of its obligations hereunder.

# 6.9 No existing Security

Except for the Charges, no Security exists on or over the Charged Assets and the Charges are not subject to any prior or *pari passu* Security.

### 6.10 Jurisdiction

Any judgment obtained in Hong Kong in relation to this Deed will be recognised and be enforceable by the courts of the Chargor's jurisdiction of incorporation subject to the laws of the British Virgin Islands (where applicable).

# 6.11 Nature of Security

This Deed creates those Security it purports to create and is not liable to be amended or otherwise set aside on the Chargor's liquidation or otherwise.

### 6.12 Pari passu ranking

The Chargor's payment obligations under this Deed rank at least *pari passu* with the claims of all its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditor, except for obligations mandatorily preferred by law applying to the Chargor generally.

### 6.13 Immunity

- (a) The entry into by it of this Deed constitutes, and the exercise by it of its rights and performance of its obligations under this Deed will constitute, private and commercial acts performed for private and commercial purposes.
- (b) It will not be entitled to claim immunity from suit, execution, attachment or other legal process in any proceedings taken in its jurisdiction of incorporation in relation to this Deed.

# 6.14 No adverse consequences

- (a) It is not necessary under the laws of any jurisdiction in which the Chargor is incorporated or holds any asset or carries on any business:
  - (i) in order to enable the Chargee to enforce its rights under this Deed; or
  - (ii) by reason of the entry into by the Chargee or the performance by it of its obligations under this Deed,

that the Chargee should be licensed, qualified or otherwise entitled to carry on business in any jurisdiction in which the Chargor is incorporated.

(b) The Chargee is not or will not be deemed to be resident, domiciled or carrying on business in any jurisdiction in which the Chargor is domiciled or incorporated by reason only of the entry into, performance and/or enforcement of this Deed subject to the laws of the British Virgin Islands (where applicable).

### 6.15 Times for making representations and warranties

- (a) The representations and warranties set out in this Deed (including in this Clause) are made on the date of this Deed.
- (b) Unless a representation and warranty is expressed to be given at a specific date, each representation and warranty under this Deed is deemed to be repeated by the Chargor on each date during the Security Period.
- (c) When a representation and warranty is repeated, it is applied to the circumstances existing at the time of repetition.

# 7. ENFORCEMENT

#### 7.1 When enforceable

At any time on or after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, the Charges shall be immediately enforceable and, save as may be provided in this Deed, the powers conferred by this Deed shall be immediately exercisable, following the delivery of an Enforcement Notice.

### 7.2 Discretion

After the Charges have become enforceable after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, the Chargee:

- (a) may enforce all or any part of any Charges (at the times, in the manner and on the terms as the Chargee thinks fit) and take possession and hold or dispose of all or any part of the Charged Assets; and
- (b) whether or not it has appointed a Receiver, may exercise all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions given to mortgagees and Receivers by the CPO as varied or extended by this Deed or otherwise conferred by law.

#### 7.3 Power of sale

The statutory power of sale, of appointing a Receiver and other statutory powers conferred on mortgagees by Section 51 (Powers of mortgagee and receiver) and Section 53 (Sale by mortgagee) of the CPO and the Fourth Schedule (Powers of mortgagee and receiver) to the CPO as varied and extended by this Deed shall arise after the Charges have become enforceable after the occurrence of an Event of Default and no restriction imposed by any ordinance or other statutory provision in relation to the exercise of any power of sale shall apply to this Deed.

# 7.4 No requirement of notice period

Except as required by applicable law or other terms of this Deed (including, Clause 7.1 (When enforceable) and the latter part of this Clause 7.4 (No requirement of notice period)), the Chargee is not required to give any prior notice of non-payment or Event of Default to the Chargor before enforcing the Charges, there is no minimum period for which Secured Obligations must remain due and unpaid before the Charges can be enforced and Paragraph 11 of the Fourth Schedule to the CPO (Powers of Mortgagee and Receiver) (and any similar provision under other laws unless such law cannot be waived by the Chargor by this Deed under such relevant law) does not apply to this Deed.

### 7.5 No liability as mortgagee in possession

Nothing done by or on behalf of the Chargee or any Receiver pursuant to this Deed shall render it liable to account as a mortgagee in possession for any sums, except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct on the part of the Chargee.

# 7.6 Vicarious liability

The Chargor may not take any proceedings against any director, officer, employee or agent of the Chargee in respect of any claim it might have against the Chargee or in respect of any act or omission of any kind (save and except gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct) by that officer, employee or agent in relation to this Deed or the Charges.

### 8. RECEIVER

### 8.1 Appointment of Receiver

- (a) Without prejudice to the provisions of Clauses 7.1 (When enforceable), 7.2 (Discretion), 7.3 (Power of sale) and 7.5 (No liability as mortgagee in possession) above, the Chargee may appoint any one or more persons to be a Receiver of all or any part of the Charged Assets if the Charges have become enforceable.
- (b) Any appointment under sub-paragraph (a) above may be by deed, under seal or in writing under its hand.

### 8.2 Removal

The Chargee may by writing under its hand remove any Receiver appointed by it and may, whenever it thinks fit, appoint a new Receiver in the place of any Receiver whose appointment may for any reason have terminated.

#### 8.3 Remuneration

The Chargee may fix the remuneration of any Receiver appointed by it.

### 8.4 Agent of Chargor

- (a) A Receiver appointed by the Chargee in accordance with the provisions of this Deed will be deemed to be the agent of the Chargor for all purposes. The Chargor is, except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct on the part of the Receiver, responsible for the contracts, engagements and/or acts of a Receiver and for liabilities incurred by a Receiver in performing its obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Deed.
- (b) The Chargee will not incur any liability (either to the Chargor or to any other person) by reason of the appointment of a Receiver or for any other reason in

exercising its rights and performing its obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Deed.

# 8.5 Relationship with agent

To the fullest extent allowed by applicable law, any right, power or discretion conferred by this Deed (either expressly or impliedly) or by law on a Receiver may after the Charges have become enforceable be exercised by the Chargee in relation to any Charged Asset without first appointing a Receiver and notwithstanding the appointment of a Receiver.

#### 8.6 Powers of the Receiver

#### (a) General

- (i) A Receiver has all of the rights, powers and discretions set out below in this Clause 8.6 in addition to those conferred on it by any applicable law.
- (ii) If there is more than one Receiver holding office at the same time, each Receiver may (unless the document appointing it states otherwise) exercise all of the powers conferred on a Receiver under this Deed individually and to the exclusion of any other Receiver.

### (b) Possession

A Receiver may take immediate possession of, get in and collect any Charged Asset and without prejudice to the foregoing, cause to be registered all or any part of the Charged Assets in its own name or in the name of its nominee(s) or in the name of any purchaser(s) thereof.

### (c) Employees

(i) A Receiver may appoint and discharge managers, officers, agents, accountants for the purposes of this Deed upon such terms as to remuneration or otherwise as it reasonably thinks fit.

### (d) Sale of assets

- (i) A Receiver may sell, exchange, convent into money and realise any Charged Asset by public auction or private contract and generally in any matter and on any terms which he reasonably thinks fit.
- (ii) The consideration for any such transaction may consist of cash, debentures or other obligations, shares, stock or other valuable

consideration and any such consideration may be payable in a lump sum or by instalments spread over any period which it reasonably thinks fit.

# (e) Compromise

A Receiver may settle, adjust, refer to arbitration, compromise and arrange any claim, account, dispute, question or demand with or by any person who is or claims to be a creditor of the Chargor or relating in any way to any Charged Asset.

# (f) <u>Legal actions</u>

A Receiver may bring, prosecute, enforce, defend and abandon any action, suit or proceedings in relation to any Charged Asset which it reasonably thinks fit.

# (g) Receipts

A Receiver may give a valid receipt for any moneys and execute any assurance or thing which may be proper or desirable for realising any Charged Asset.

# (h) <u>Delegation</u>

A Receiver may delegate its powers in accordance with this Deed.

# (i) Covenants, guarantees and indemnities

A Receiver may enter into covenants, indemnities and other obligations or liabilities as it shall reasonably think fit, make all payments needed to effect, maintain or satisfy such obligations or liabilities and use the company seal(s) (if any) of the Chargor.

# (j) Protection of assets

A Receiver may do any act which the Chargor might do in the ordinary conduct of its business to protect, preserve any Charged Asset as it reasonably thinks fit.

### (k) Other powers

A Receiver may:

- do all other acts and things which it may reasonably consider necessary for realising any Charged Asset or incidental or conductive to any of the rights, powers or discretions conferred on a Receiver under or by virtue of this Deed or applicable law;
- (ii) exercise in relation to any Charged Asset all the powers, authorities and things which it would be capable of exercising if it were the absolute beneficial owner of that Charged Asset; and
- (iii) use the name of the Chargor for any of the above purposes.

#### 9. WIDE CONSTRUCTION OF ENFORCEMENT POWERS

The powers of the Chargee under this Deed shall be construed in the widest possible sense and all Parties intend that the Chargee shall have powers as may be conferred (or, if not expressly conferred, as is not restricted) by any applicable law.

#### 10. CHARGEE'S RIGHTS

# 10.1 Rights of Chargee

At any time after the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargee shall have the rights set out in Schedule 1 (Rights of Chargee).

### 10.2 **Delegation**

- (a) The Chargee may delegate in any manner to any person any rights exercisable by the Chargee under this Deed. Any such delegation may be made upon such terms and conditions (including power to sub-delegate) as the Chargee reasonably thinks fit.
- (b) Any Receiver may delegate in any manner to any person any rights exercisable by the any Receiver under this Deed. Any such delegation may be made upon such terms and conditions (including power to sub-delegate) as any Receiver reasonably thinks fit.

#### 10.3 **Other**

The Chargee shall not be obliged to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Deed.

#### 11. ORDER OF DISTRIBUTIONS

- (a) All amounts received or recovered by the Chargee, any Receiver or any Delegate in exercise of their rights under this Deed shall be applied in the following order of priority:
  - (i) in or towards payment of or provision for all reasonable costs and expenses properly incurred by the Chargee, any Receiver or any Delegate under or in connection with any Finance Document and of all reasonable remuneration due to any Delegate under or in connection with this Deed;
  - (ii) in or towards payment of or provision for all of the Secured Obligations;
  - (iii) in or towards payment of or provision for any Secured Obligations not covered in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above; and
  - (iv) in payment of the surplus (if any) to the Chargor or other person having priority over the Chargor and entitled to it (as the case may be).
- (b) This Clause:
  - (i) is subject to the payment of any claims having priority over the Charges; and
  - (ii) does not prejudice the right of the Chargee to recover any shortfall from the Chargor.

### 12. LIABILITY OF THE CHARGEE AND DELEGATES

- (a) No Chargee, Receiver or Delegate shall (either by reason of taking possession of the Charged Assets or for any other reason and whether as mortgagee in possession or otherwise) be liable to the Chargor or any other person for any costs, losses, liabilities or expenses relating to the realisation of any Charged Assets, save for any gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct of the Chargee, any Receiver, any Delegate or their respective officers, employees or agents in relation to the Charged Assets.
- (b) Nothing in this Deed shall be construed as placing on the Chargee any liability whatsoever in respect of any calls, instalments or other payments relating to any of the Charged Assets or any rights, shares or other securities accruing, offered or arising as aforesaid, and the Chargor shall indemnify the Chargee in respect of all calls, instalments or other payments relating to any of the Charged Assets owned by it and to any rights, shares and other

securities accruing, offered or arising as aforesaid in respect of any of the Charged Assets.

### 13. POWER OF ATTORNEY

# 13.1 Appointment

- The Chargor, by way of security and in order more fully to secure the (a) performance of its obligations hereunder, hereby irrevocably appoints the Chargee and the persons deriving title under it severally to be its attorney to execute and complete in favour of the Chargee or its nominees or of any purchaser any documents which the Chargee may from time to time require for perfecting its title to or for vesting any of the Charged Assets in the Chargee or its nominees or in any purchaser and to give effectual discharges for payments, to take and institute on non-payment (if the Chargee in its sole discretion so decided) all steps and proceedings in the name of the Chargor or of the Chargee for the recovery of such moneys and/or the Charged Assets and to agree accounts and make allowances and give time or other indulgence to any surety or other person liable and otherwise generally for it and in its name and on its behalf and as its attorney act and by deed, in person or otherwise resolve, execute, seal and deliver and otherwise perfect and do any such legal assignments and other assurances, charges, authorities and documents over the moneys and/or the Charged Assets, and all such deeds, instruments, acts and things (including, without limitation, those referred to in this Clause 13.1) which may be reasonably required for the full exercise of all or any of the powers conferred or which may be deemed proper on or in connection with any of the purposes aforesaid. This power shall, for the avoidance of doubt, extend to and include the Chargee's ability to resolve on behalf of the Chargor to execute any instrument of title or transfer in respect of any Charged Assets; and
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Clause 13.1, such power shall not be exercisable by or on behalf of the Chargee until (i) any breach by any Obligor of its obligations under the Loan Agreement has occurred and is subsisting, and (ii) no such attorney shall, in exercise of such power, cause the Chargor to incur obligations other than those expressly contemplated by this Deed or cause the Chargor to incur any liability for any expenditure other than expenditure limited in amount and recourse to available funds (if any) or realisation of the Charged Assets.

### 13.2 Removal

The Chargee may by writing under its hand remove any Delegate appointed by it and may, whenever it reasonably thinks fit, appoint a new Delegate in the place of any Delegate whose appointment may for any reason have terminated.

#### 13.3 Ratification

The power hereby conferred shall be a general power of attorney and the Chargor hereby ratifies and confirms and agrees to ratify and confirm any instrument, act or thing which any such attorney may execute or do pursuant to Clause 13.1. In relation to the power referred to herein, the exercise by the Chargee of such power shall be conclusive evidence of its right to exercise the same.

#### 14. PROTECTION OF THIRD PARTIES

### 14.1 No duty to enquire

No person dealing with the Chargee or any Receiver or any Delegate shall be concerned to enquire:

- (a) whether the power or rights conferred by or pursuant to this Deed are exercisable;
- (b) whether any consents, regulations, restrictions or directions relating to such rights have been obtained or complied with;
- (c) otherwise as to the propriety or regularity of acts purporting or intended to be in exercise of any such rights; or
- (d) as to the application of any money forming part of the Charged Assets or following the sale thereof.

# 14.2 Protection to purchasers

Subject to the provisions of this Deed, all the protection to purchasers contained in Sections 52 (*Protection of purchaser*), 53 (*Sale by mortgagee*) and 55 (*Mortgagee's receipt*) of the CPO or in any other applicable legislation shall apply to any person purchasing from or dealing with the Chargee, any Delegate or any Receiver.

### 15. SAVING PROVISIONS

# 15.1 Continuing Security

Subject to Clause 16 (*Discharge of Security*), the Charges are continuing Security and will extend to the ultimate balance of the Secured Obligations, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

### 15.2 Reinstatement

If any payment by the Chargor or any discharge given by the Chargee (whether in respect of the obligations of any person or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event:

- (a) the liability of the Chargor and the Charges shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred;
- (b) the Chargee shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Chargor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
- (c) the amount paid shall not be considered to have been paid for the purposes of determining whether all the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably and unconditionally paid and discharged in full.

#### 15.3 Waiver of defences

Neither the obligations of the Chargor under this Deed nor the Charges will be affected by any act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Deed or any of the Charges (without limitation and whether or not known to it or the Chargee) including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, the Chargor or any other person;
- (b) the release of the Chargor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor of the Chargor or any such person;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce any rights against, or security over assets of, the Chargor or any other person or any non-presentation or non-

observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any Security;

- (d) any death, mental or other incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status or constitution of the Chargor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of any Finance Document or any other related document or Security;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other related document or Security;
- (g) any insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation, winding-up or similar proceedings (as applicable); or
- (h) any other Security, guarantee or indemnity now or thereafter held by the Chargee or any other person in respect of the Secured Obligations or any other liabilities.

#### 15.4 Immediate recourse

The Chargor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Chargee to proceed against or enforce any other rights or Security or claim payment from any person before claiming from the Chargor under this Deed. This waiver applies irrespective of any law to the contrary.

### 15.5 Appropriations

Until all the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably paid in full and all financing or facilities which might give rise to the Secured Obligations have been terminated or redeemed, the Chargee (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) may:

- (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, Security or rights held or received by it (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it reasonably sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and the Chargor shall not be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
- (b) hold in a suspense account any moneys received from the Chargor or on account of the Chargor's liability under this Deed.

### 15.6 Deferral of Chargor's rights

Until all the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably paid or discharged in full, the Chargor will not exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under this Deed to:

- (a) be indemnified by any person;
- (b) claim any contribution from any other provider of any Security for or any other guarantor of any person's obligations under or in connection with any Finance Document; and/or
- (c) take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the Chargee (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) or of any guarantee or other Security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, any Finance Document.

The Chargor must hold in trust for and promptly, in any event within five (5) Business Days, pay or transfer to the Chargee for any payment or distribution or benefit of any Security received by it contrary to this Clause or in accordance with any reasonable directions given by the Chargee under this Clause.

### 15.7 Additional Security

- (a) The Charges are in addition to and are not in any way prejudiced by any other guarantees or Security now or subsequently held by the Chargee.
- (b) No prior Security held by the Chargee (in its capacity as such or otherwise) over any Charged Asset will merge into the Charges.

### 15.8 Security held by Chargor

The Chargor must not, without the prior consent in writing of the Chargee (such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), hold any Security from any other Obligor in respect of the Chargor's liability under this Deed. The Chargor will hold any Security held by it in breach of this provision on trust for the Chargee.

#### 16. DISCHARGE OF SECURITY

#### 16.1 Release

The Chargee shall at the request and cost of the Chargor promptly release, reassign or discharge (as appropriate) the relevant Charged Assets from the Charges within fifteen (15) Business Days (or such shorter period as agreed by the Lender in writing) upon confirming (at the Chargee's sole and absolute discretion) that:

- (a) the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably paid or discharged in full or as required or permitted by the Finance Documents; or
- (b) the relevant Charged Assets are required to be released, reassigned or discharged (as appropriate and pursuant to the terms and conditions to be agreed between the Parties in writing) in relation to the Placing of any Shares.

#### 16.2 Retention of Security

If any amount paid or credited to the Chargee under this Deed is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Chargor or any other person or otherwise, that amount shall not be considered to have been paid for the purposes of determining whether all the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably paid.

#### 16.3 Consolidation

Any restrictions on the consolidation of Security shall be excluded to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and the Chargee shall, so far as it is lawful and subject to other provisions of this Deed, be entitled to consolidate all or any of the Charges with any other Security whether in existence on the date of this Deed or in the future.

#### 17. EXPENSES, STAMP DUTY AND INTEREST

#### 17.1 Amendment costs

If the Chargor requests an amendment, waiver or consent, the Chargor shall, within five (5) Business Days of demand reimburse the Chargee (and its directors, officers, employees and agents) for the amount of all reasonable costs and expenses (including

legal fees) properly incurred by the Chargee in responding to, evaluating, negotiating or complying with that request.

#### 17.2 Enforcement costs

The Chargor shall, within five (5) Business Days of demand, pay to the Chargee the amount of all reasonable costs, losses, liabilities and expenses (including legal fees and fees of any experts and agents) properly incurred by the Chargee, any Receiver or any Delegate in relation to this Deed (including the enforcement or preservation of any rights under or in connection with this Deed).

#### 17.3 Stamp taxes

The Chargor shall pay and, within five (5) Business Days of demand, indemnify the Chargee against any reasonable cost, all stamp duty, registration and other similar Taxes payable in respect of this Deed.

#### 18. PAYMENTS

#### 18.1 Demands

Any demand for payment made by the Chargee shall be accompanied by a statement of the relevant obligations.

#### 18.2 Payments

All payments by the Chargor under this Deed (including damages for its breach) shall be made in HK\$ or such other relevant currency (in the case of amounts payable under Clause 17 (*Expenses, stamp duty and interest*)) and to such account, with such financial institution and in such other manner as the Chargee may reasonably direct.

#### 18.3 Continuation of accounts

At any time after:

- (a) the receipt by the Chargee of notice (either actual or otherwise) of any subsequent Security affecting the Charged Assets; or
- (b) any step is taken in relation to the winding-up or bankruptcy (as applicable) of the Chargor,

the Chargee may open a new account in the name of the Chargor with a bank it chooses (whether or not it permits any existing account to continue). If the Chargee does not open such a new account, it shall nevertheless be treated as if it had done so when the relevant event occurred. No moneys paid into any account, whether new or continuing, after that event shall discharge or reduce the amount recoverable pursuant to this Deed.

#### 18.4 Subrogation

So long as any Charge remains outstanding:

- (a) any rights of the Chargor, by reason of the performance of any of its obligations under this Deed, the enforcement of any of the Charges or any action taken pursuant to any rights conferred by or in connection with this Deed, to be indemnified by any person, to prove in respect of any liability in the winding-up of any person or to take the benefit of or enforce any Security, guarantees or indemnities, shall be exercised and enforced only in such manner and on such terms, as the Chargee may reasonably require; and
- (b) any amount received or recovered by the Chargor (i) as a result of any exercise of any such rights or (ii) in the winding-up of any person shall be held in trust for and promptly in any event within five (5) Business Days paid to the Chargee.

#### 19. TAX GROSS UP

#### 19.1 **Definitions**

In this Clause 19:

"Tax Deduction" means a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax from a payment under this Deed.

"Tax Payment" means an increased payment made by the Chargor to the Chargee under Clause 19.2 (*Tax gross-up*).

#### 19.2 Tax gross-up

(a) The Chargor shall make all payments to be made by it without any Tax Deduction, unless a Tax Deduction is required by applicable law.

- (b) The Chargor shall promptly upon becoming aware that it must make a Tax Deduction (or that there is any change in the rate or the basis of a Tax Deduction) notify the Chargee accordingly.
- (c) If the Tax Deduction is required by law to be made by the Chargor, the amount of the payment due from the Chargor shall be increased to an amount which (after making any Tax Deduction) leaves an amount equal to the payment which would have been due if no Tax Deduction had been required.
- (d) If the Chargor is required to make a Tax Deduction, the Chargor shall make that Tax Deduction and any payment required in connection with that Tax Deduction within the time allowed and in the minimum amount required by applicable law.
- (e) Within 30 days of making either a Tax Deduction or any payment required in connection with that Tax Deduction, the Chargor shall deliver to the Chargee evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Chargee that the Tax Deduction has been made or (as applicable) any appropriate payment paid to the relevant taxing authority.

#### 20. OTHER INDEMNITIES

#### 20.1 Currency indemnity

- (a) If any sum due from the Chargor under this Deed (a "Sum"), or any order, judgment or award given or made in relation to a Sum, has to be converted from the currency (the "First Currency") in which that Sum is payable into another currency (the "Second Currency") for the purpose of:
  - (iii) making or filing a claim or proof against the Chargor;
  - (iv) obtaining or enforcing an order, judgment or award in relation to any litigation or arbitration proceedings,

the Chargor shall as an independent obligation, within five (5) Business Days of demand, indemnify the Chargee against any reasonable cost, loss or liability arising out of or as a result of the conversion including any discrepancy between (A) the rate of exchange used to convert that Sum from the First Currency into the Second Currency and (B) the rate or rates of exchange available to the Chargee at the time of its receipt of that Sum provided that any payment made to the Chargee shall be in HK\$.

(b) The Chargor waives any right it may have in any jurisdiction to pay any amount under this Deed in a currency or currency unit other than that in which it is expressed to be payable.

#### 20.2 Other indemnities

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Chargor shall indemnify the Chargee (and its directors, officers, employees and agents), any Receiver and any Delegate against all losses, liabilities, damages, reasonable costs and expenses properly incurred by it or them in the execution or performance of the terms and conditions of this Deed and against all actions, proceedings, claims, demands, costs, charges and expenses (including legal fees and fees of any experts or agents) which may be properly incurred, sustained or arise in respect of the non-performance or non-observance of any of the undertakings and agreements of the Chargor in this Deed or in respect of any matter or thing done or omitted relating in any way whatsoever to the Charged Assets, including, losses, liabilities, damages, reasonable costs and expenses suffered or properly incurred in connection with:

- (a) the preservation, enforcement, realisation or exercise of any Security created, or any powers conferred, by this Deed or by applicable law;
- (b) the exchange of any share certificate(s) or other documents of title in respect of the Charged Assets of any denomination(s) for any share certificate(s) or other documents of title of other denomination(s) if reasonably necessary to do so; and
- (c) any Charged Assets being deemed not to be freely transferable or deliverable or to be defective,

except to the extent such losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses suffered or incurred are caused by the gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct of the Chargee (and its directors, officers, employees and agents), Receiver and Delegate, and, for the avoidance of doubt, each of the indemnities in this paragraph shall survive discharge of the Secured Obligations.

#### 20.3 Indemnities separate

Each indemnity in this Deed shall:

- (a) constitute a separate and independent obligation from the other obligations in any Finance Document;
- (b) give rise to a separate and independent cause of action;

- (c) apply irrespective of any indulgence granted by any person;
- (d) continue in full force and effect despite any judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any Obligation or any other judgment or order; and
- (e) apply whether or not any claim under it relates to any matter disclosed by the Chargor or otherwise known to the Chargee.

#### 21. SET-OFF

The Chargee may set off any matured obligation due from the Chargor under this Deed or any other Finance Document against any matured obligation owed by the Chargee to the Chargor under this Deed or any other Finance Document, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation. If the obligations are in different currencies, the Chargee may convert either obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off.

#### 22. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Each of the events or circumstances set out in the following sub-clauses of this Clause 22 is an Event of Default.

(a) Failure to perform the Secured Obligations

Any of the Obligors fails to perform or discharge any of the Secured Obligations under any Finance Document.

(b) Misrepresentation

Any representation or statement made by an Obligor in any Finance Document or any other document delivered by or on behalf of any Obligor under or in connection with any Finance Document is incorrect in any material respect or misleading in any material respect.

- (c) Insolvency and capacity
  - (i) An Obligor is or is presumed or deemed (under applicable law) to be unable or admits inability to pay its/his debts as they fall due, suspends making payments on any of its/his debts or, by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties, commences negotiations with one or more of its/his creditors with a view to rescheduling any of its indebtedness; or

(ii) If any Obligor (being an individual) dies, is of unsound mind or becomes mentally incapacitated.

# (d) Insolvency proceedings

Any corporate action, legal proceedings or other procedure or step is taken in relation to:

- (i) the suspension of payments, a moratorium of any indebtedness, winding-up, dissolution, liquidation, bankruptcy, administration, provisional supervision or reorganisation (by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) of an Obligor;
- (ii) a composition or arrangement with any creditor of an Obligor, or an assignment for the benefit of creditors generally of an Obligor or a class of such creditors; or
- (iii) the appointment of a liquidator, receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, compulsory manager, provisional supervisor or other similar officer in respect of the Charged Company and/or the Chargor or any of its material assets,

or any analogous procedure or step is taken in any jurisdiction.

# (e) Creditors' process

Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution affects any asset or assets of any of the Obligors having an aggregate value of HK\$30,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies and is not discharged within thirty (30) days.

#### (f) Repudiation

An Obligor repudiates any Finance Document or expresses in written form an intention to repudiate any Finance Document.

#### (g) Unlawfulness; Ineffective security

It is or becomes unlawful for an Obligor to perform any of its/his obligations under the Finance Documents or any Security created or expressed to be created or evidenced by the Finance Documents ceases to be legal, valid, binding, enforceable or effective.

#### (h) Cross default

Any event of default (howsoever described) occurs under any other Finance Document.

# (i) Criminal and other proceedings

Any investigation, litigation, arbitration or proceeding (in each case, criminal or otherwise) is formally instituted or commenced against any Obligor by reason of actual or alleged dishonesty, gross negligence or fraud, including with respect to applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, which may have any material adverse effect on such Obligor's ability to observe any of its obligations under the relevant Finance Document.

#### 23. RIGHTS, AMENDMENTS, WAIVERS AND DETERMINATIONS

#### 23.1 Ambiguity

Where there is any ambiguity or conflict between the rights conferred by applicable law and those conferred by or pursuant to this Deed, the terms of this Deed shall prevail.

#### 23.2 Remedies and waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Chargee or any Delegate any right or remedy under this Deed shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies provided in this Deed are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by applicable law.

#### 23.3 Amendments and waivers

Any term of this Deed may be amended or the observance of any term of this Deed may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) only with the prior written consent of the Chargee and the Chargor.

#### 23.4 Determinations

Any determination by or certificate of the Chargee or any Delegate under or in connection with this Deed shall, in the absence of manifest errors, be conclusive evidence of the matters to which it relates.

#### 23.5 Chargor's Waiver

The Chargor waives, to the extent permitted under applicable law, all rights it may otherwise have to require that the Charges be enforced in any particular order or manner or at any particular time or that any sum received or recovered from any person, or by virtue of the enforcement of any of the Charges or any other Security, which is capable of being applied in or towards discharge of any of the Secured Obligations is so applied.

#### 24. PARTIAL INVALIDITY

If at any time any provision of this Deed is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired.

#### 25. NOTICES

#### 25.1 Communications in writing

Any notice required or permitted pursuant to this Deed shall be given in writing and shall be given either personally or by sending it by courier service, registered post, email or fax to the address or fax number of the relevant Party as provided in Clause 25.2 (*Addresses*) below (or at such other address as such Party may designate by five (5) Business Days' advance written notice to the other Party given in accordance with this Clause 25).

#### 25.2 Addresses

The addresses and fax numbers for service of a notice in connection with this Deed are.

#### To the Chargee:

Name: Noble Wisdom Ever Limited

Address: 27/F., AIA Central, 1 Connaught Road Central

Facsimile: 852-35778928

Email: cgchengang@chamc.com.cn

Attention: Mr. Chen Gang / Guo Yiyuan

#### To the Chargor:

Name: Golden Diamond Inc.

Address: Hip Shing Hong Centre, 55 Des Voeux Road, Central, Hong Kong

Facsimile: N/A

Email: 1724374231@qq.com

Attention: Lin Ping

#### 25.3 Deemed notice

Any notice, demand or other communication so addressed to the relevant Party shall be deemed to have been delivered (a) if delivered by hand or courier service, at the time of delivery; (b) if sent by pre-paid registered post, on the fourth (4th) Business Day (on the 7<sup>th</sup> Business Day in the case of an addressee in a different jurisdiction) after the time of posting; and (c) if given or made by email or fax, immediately after it has been despatched with a confirmation that all pages have been transmitted except where despatch is not on a Business Day. If a communication would otherwise be deemed to have been delivered outside normal business hours (after 5:30 p.m. on a Business Day) in the time zone of the territory of the recipient under the preceding provisions of this Clause 25, it shall be deemed to have been delivered at 9:30 a.m. on the next Business Day in the territory of the recipient. In proving service of a communication, it shall be sufficient to show that delivery by hand or courier was made or that the envelope containing the communication was properly addressed and posted as a pre-paid letter or that the facsimile transmission was despatched and a confirmatory transmission report or other acknowledgement of good receipt was received.

#### 25.4 Exceptions relating to legal process

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this Clause 25 shall not apply in relation to the service of any claim form, application notice, order, judgment or other notice of legal process relating to or in connection with any proceeding, suit or action arising out of or in connection with this Deed.

#### 26. CHANGES TO PARTIES

#### 26.1 No transfer by the Chargor

Unless with the prior written consent of the Chargee (which consent may be given or withheld at the absolute discretion of the Chargee), the Chargor shall not and shall not agree to transfer or assign all or any part of its rights and/or obligations under this Deed to any person.

#### 26.2 Transfer by the Chargee

(a) The Chargee may at any time transfer or assign all or any part of its rights and/or obligations under this Deed to any of its Affiliates.

- (b) The Chargor agrees to execute all documents and take all action that may reasonably be required by the Chargee in respect of any assignment or transfer at the costs of the Chargee. Any such assignee or transferee shall be and be treated as a Party for all purposes of this Deed and shall be entitled to the full benefit of this Deed to the same extent as if it were an original party in respect of the rights or obligations assigned or transferred to it.
- (c) Notwithstanding any transfer or assignment by the Chargee pursuant to any Finance Document and/or this Clause 26.2, the Chargor's obligations under Clause 26.2(b) above will continue for the benefit of the assignee or successor of the Chargee.

#### 26.3 Assignments and transfers

The Chargor:

- (a) upon reasonable request of the Chargee or any successor Chargee will execute and authorises the Chargee to execute on its behalf any and all instruments for fully vesting in and confirming to the successor Chargee all such rights and obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Deed; and
- (b) by way of security irrevocably authorises the Chargee to execute on its behalf any document the Chargee considers reasonably necessary in relation to any transfer or assignment contemplated by this Deed or the Finance Documents.

#### 27. COUNTERPARTS

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Deed.

#### 28. GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

#### 28.1 Governing Law

This Deed and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed and take effect in accordance with the laws of Hong Kong.

#### 28.2 Dispute Resolution

(a) With respect to any question, dispute, suit, action or proceedings arising out

of or in connection with this Agreement ("Proceedings"), each Party irrevocably:

- (i) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Hong Kong; and
- (ii) waives any objection which it may have at any time to the laying of venue of any Proceedings brought in any such court, waives any claim that such Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and further waives the right to object, with respect to such Proceedings, that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such Party

#### 29. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

- 29.1 Unless expressly provided to the contrary in the Finance Documents or this Deed, a person who is not a Party has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Ordinance (Chapter 623) (the "Third Parties Ordinance") to enforce or enjoy the benefit of any term of this Deed.
- 29.2 Notwithstanding any term of the Finance Documents or this Deed, the consent of any person who is not a Party is not required to rescind or vary this Deed at any time.
- 29.3 Any Receiver and/or Delegate may, subject to this Clause 29 and the Third Parties Ordinance, rely on any clause of this Deed which expressly confers rights on it.

#### 30. WAIVER OF IMMUNITY

The Chargor irrevocably and unconditionally:

- (a) agrees that if the Chargee brings proceedings against it or the Charged Assets in relation to this Deed, no immunity from those proceedings (including suit, attachment prior to judgment, other attachment, the obtaining of judgment, execution or other enforcement) will be claimed by or on behalf of itself or with respect to the Charged Assets;
- (b) waives any such right of immunity which it or the Charged Assets; and
- (c) consents generally in respect of any such proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with those proceedings,

including the making, enforcement or execution against the Charged Assets of any order or judgment which may be made or given in those proceedings.

In witness whereof this Deed has been executed as a deed on the day and year first above written.

#### SCHEDULE 1 RIGHTS OF CHARGEE

After the Charges have become enforceable, the Chargee shall have the right, either in its own name or in the name of the Chargor or otherwise and in such manner and upon such terms and conditions as the Chargee reasonably thinks fit, and either alone or jointly with any other person:

#### (a) Take possession

to take possession of the Charged Assets, and to require payment to it of all Dividends, to complete any forms of transfer and to procure the transfer of the Charged Assets into the name of the Chargee or its nominee and, if necessary, take possession of and collect the certificate(s) and/or other documents of title relating to the Charged Assets;

#### (b) Deal with Charged Assets

to sell, transfer, assign, exchange or otherwise dispose of or realise the Charged Assets to any person either by public offer or auction, tender or private contract and for a consideration of any kind;

#### (c) Rights of ownership

to exercise and do (or permit the Chargor or any nominee of it to exercise and do) all such rights and things as the Chargee would be capable of exercising or doing if it were the absolute beneficial owner of the Charged Assets;

#### (d) Claims

to settle, adjust, refer to arbitration, compromise and arrange any claims, accounts, disputes, questions and demands with or by any person relating to the Charged Assets;

#### (e) Legal actions

to bring, prosecute, enforce, defend and abandon actions, suits and proceedings in relation to the Charged Assets;

# (f) Redemption of Security

to redeem any Security (whether or not having priority to the Charges) over the Charged Assets and to settle the accounts of any person with an interest in the Charged Assets;

#### (g) Spend money

in the exercise of any of the above powers, to spend such sums as the Chargee may reasonably think fit and the Chargor shall within five (5) Business Days of a written

demand pay to the Chargee or the Receiver (as the case may be) all sums so spent together with interest on those sums at such reasonable rates as the Chargee may from time to time determine from the time they are paid or properly incurred, and those sums (together with such interest) shall be secured by the Charges; and

# (h) Other powers

to do anything else the Chargee may think fit for the realisation of the Charged Assets or incidental to the exercise of any of the rights conferred on it under or by virtue of this Deed, the Companies Ordinance and other applicable statutory provisions and common law.

# SCHEDULE 2 FORMS OF LETTER OF INSTRUCTION, STANDARD FORMS OF TRANSFER AND CONTRACT NOTES

# PART 1

# FORM OF LETTER OF INSTRUCTION TO CUSTODIAN

То:	Lego Securit [*]	ties Limited		
Date:				
Dear	Sirs			
Acco	unt Name:	GOLDEN DIAMO	ND INC.	
	unt Number: e of Stock: atity:			
as ch	argor, and Nob		] 2019 between ted as chargee in respect of the company Limited	•
enclo	sed), please be	instructed to transfer	standard form of transfer the abovementioned securing effect to	ties from the account of
			, account	
For a	s faithfully nd on behalf of en Diamond Ind			·

# PART 2

# STANDARD FORMS OF TRANSFER

STANDARD FORM	OF TRANSFEI	R P	背鐵事	ľ			
40.1. 1.1° N.9.1	n k na sa	uni aucomo s beribe					
To be everybied in every detail and an Name of Courtsum:		uenar			Sper De Su	ngkg <b>Hadi</b> ana	***************************************
公司有限 Type of Securities		ARRIVA BARRATA ARRIVA	X40100X448444444444444444444444444444444			798998V 75524	
星作规划						badna MTK) - 各後聯合交易所之市)	
No. of Starce/America of Warrance 股份/経験組織数分	Pigano Mak						
	Words 大寨		THE PARTY OF THE P				
Centhran Surviver 型框整構	A CONTRACTOR OF THE CONTRACTOR				Partide 漢質 (Funy 著者)		
THANNEROAN 特羅人 NAMESORY ENGLISH 菜文化次	k)		Naras(gilla Chiarre 中文姓名 1) 2)				
Neuer Continuation/Joint Holders Same 領域名/陳名人姓名	2,	<del></del>				·	
(Surranse Ara. L to lések capitalé) (新光可姓氏,各用正計議院)	ħ	fi i			<b>3</b> )	4	
for the Candidorates must labor the The the absencentificate(s) subject to the condition scenarie subject to the evolutions absenced 因之影響,將上医爾釋因此之股份數別	kun eus misch der mid ergenden zeg Leigental clauers au PAC best pass	ega ladd b Erwe basels	s the Translatest of on applicable	ist, and the Tr e the the pains	mektani) dojaj Maraki ki dana	i berthi, agree to menga med be mar, 帕斯人姓氏阿氏逊氏之子	dd the said
Carsideration Mill		***************************************	N. FW. 572 500 62 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 50				
Notes: (i) Nares of Transferred) le fi (K. Arbbero (biet aberelaskler	sil, las estimente, frechentes com e 7 martinistroblem sincelligisco						THE PERSON NAMED IN
TRANSFEREES, AMA NAMES IN ENGLISH STARS	l)		211(61 (3840)		Name (Charle 中文教名 八		
Name Continuation John Bakker Name 開除名/解名人姓名	2)				2,		
(Sumana fine k in block capitals) (前九河姓氏 - 拉利尼斯塔底	3)	11:	***************************************	ř	3.	4	
ABORISS : 26 & Morisonalliket Na., 1885.					Telephone N	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	
章(G/D) M/ Agi · 人權名稱 None No., None of Street,	Grapakn : 概集						
門碑號碼 - 密虹名儀 1865chi, Towa, Presi Code		Charatry	: 98 %	Ceaing	Sharekelder)	以力量库	
版版・相貌者権・弊議就職   Nickford Jastraction (Tare)		l	1	Prior n ambar : Bel	magaggan markanan asa asa ayan ayan ar	that 新於空格的语 "N"	<b>数</b> 
Manager and a constraint of the Manager (紹介)	"teres or court, takil 1940	متقدته وتتقدم والمستدر	1	ereces e alex	n in and and an		***************************************
Becombil/Addition 分价/老量							
SIGNED by the parties to this transfe in the presence of Signature of Witten 北的人世名:							
Arithma Elif (							
• ''''	n en tantan tantan kantan an tantan tantan tantan kententen den tantan tantan tantan kententen de de de de		en e			rafron)) 桐蓮人養名	45.1 745
is in greener of Spearer of Winero LALES: _	dde die het het de Jacob og op oar oan de dae het het het de op oar tot die dae de die de het de oar die -		ale aleman account at A the life the the tell to be	»			
Auklem 階度:	and the second state of the second	*******	*****	~			
(Napsion III &				Sign	EKU <del>SI</del> N OLUM	mirroria *#AXX	
市大客桌的 SELLERS BROKERS	THE STRUCTURE OF THE ST	OKERS	<b>南方阵配印</b> ;			NAMES OF THE PARTY	frokejes:
3t	X.	sumbolitist :	Ŝ,			4)	
- 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 115 - 1		Control of the Contro					
					Ì		

有大汉内敦史等等(Personal Indianation California) Wasserial 别人家村内设施的特殊时间的主题传文的是一次在4个年间中上行业作品生活,在经验大作村或先要明显的政治的特别人或明显是经验原始的人的现代的代数的现代的人的现代的 我们是就是是我说我的我们的对于这种文化。 Proceed Indianation Collegement Selections of Accidentary at the Proceed Data Proceed in Collegement Collegement of the collegement of the Collegement Collegement (Advanced of the Collegement Collegement (Advan

and the Challenger.]

And the Challenger.]

And Challenger.]

And

op prakts fleig arrought. 超导体化人强强制的简单的自任何节模:连续即的细密编印度。He is mynoreme institute of occupant inknore the expension conveyant onemedium keed any materialism in the data

maphons] 高级引致[Purphons] 投票转换人的领表指挥传输换越基础转给力光接任选人放展作。故作于测确进作用 personal data of the lanker of personals may be used lank and/or wound by whatever an over lan .

動意之外活用 目外の計画機 目前機 Profession processes of the Action of Landon and Action and Action of Management (Action) (Action of Management (Action) (Act

# PART 3

# FORM OF CONTRACT NOTES

# SOLD NOTE

Name of Purchaser:		
Address:		
Name of Company in which the shares to b	oe sold :	KEE Holdings Company Limited
Number of Shares:	of _	each
Consideration:		
		(Seller)
Date:	<del></del>	
I	BOUGHT NO	TE
Name of Seller: Golden Diamond Inc	•	
Address:		
Name of Company in which the shares to l	be bought :	KEE Holdings Company Limited
Number of Shares:	of _	each
Consideration:		
Date:		(Buyer)

# SCHEDULE 3 FORM OF NOTICE TO THE CUSTODIAN

From:		Golden Diamond Inc.			
То:	Lego Securities Limited [Address of Custodian] Hong Kong				
Copy t	o:	Noble Wisdom Ever Limited (the "Chargee")			
Date:					
Dear S	irs				

Account No: [ \* ] (the "Custodian Account")

You are hereby given notice that pursuant to a share charge dated [ ] 2019 (the "Share Charge"), a copy of which is attached, we have charged and assigned in favour of the Chargee, among other things, all our right, title and interest in and to all those ordinary shares having a par value of HK\$0.01 each in the capital of and issued by KEE Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2011) (the "Shares") which are owned (whether beneficially or legally) by us, which are deposited or to be deposited in our Custodian Account with you and the Additional Rights in relation thereto including all our rights (including dividends and distributions of any kind) both present and future against you with respect to the Custodian Account and credit balance (if any) from time to time of the Custodian Account (collectively, the "Charged Assets").

We hereby irrevocably instruct you that:

- (a) until the Chargee notifies you in writing of the occurrence of an Event of Default, you shall, subject to us having complied for the time being with all provisions under your Customer Agreement entered into between you and us in such form as at the date of this notice without any further amendments or supplements (the "Client Agreement"), act on the joint instructions of us and the Chargee in relation to the Charged Assets except that we shall be entitled to withdraw dividends in relation to the Shares deposited in our Custodian Account with the consent from the Chargee before occurrence of an Event of Default;
- (b) after the Chargee notifies you in writing the occurrence of an Event of Default, you shall forthwith:

- (i) hold the Charged Assets and all your rights against HKSCC Nominees Limited in the Central Clearing and Settlement System ("CCASS") established and operated by the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or other person in connection with the Shares to the order of the Chargee;
- (ii) pay all moneys in the credit balance of the Custodian Account without any setoff or deduction which now or hereafter become due by us to the Chargee to
  such account as the Chargee may specify in writing from time to time, including
  without set-off or deduction of amounts properly due to you from us in
  accordance with the terms of the Client Agreement regulating the Custodian
  Account which we have agreed not to be amended or varied without the
  Chargee's prior written consent, other than in connection with and to the extent
  only of the recovery of our customary fees, costs and expenses solely in
  connection with the operation and administration of the Custodian Account;
- (iii) transfer and release those Charged Assets to the account of the Chargee or its nominee as directed from time to time by the Chargee and those Charged Assets shall be held by the Chargee or its nominee (as the delegate and custodian of the Chargee) and all rights, title and interest in respect of those Charged Assets shall be held by the Chargee upon the transfer; and
- (iv) act in accordance with the instructions of the Chargee in relation to the Charged Assets and the Custodian Account;
- (c) you should provide the Chargee with all information it may request in respect of the Charged Assets and promptly, in any event within five (5) Business Days upon receipt, copies of all monthly statements of account, transaction contracts, transaction confirmations, copies of all information received from CCASS or any other person in respect thereof.

These instructions shall be irrevocable until such time as you receive written notice from the Charge stating that the Share Charge has been released or otherwise discharged.

In this notice, unless otherwise defined herein or the context requires otherwise, capitalised terms have the same meaning and construction as define in the Share Charge.

Please acknowledge these instructions by executing and delivering to us and the Chargee the attached acknowledgement.

Yours faithfully	
For and on behalf of	
Golden Diamond Inc.	

#### Acknowledgement

From:	[Lego Securities Limited]		
	[Address of Custodian]		
To:	Golden Diamond Inc.		
	and		
	Noble Wisdom Ever Limited		
Date:			

Dear Sirs

We acknowledge receipt of the attached notice (the "Notice") from Golden Diamond Inc. (the "Chargor") relating to the security interest created in favour of Noble Wisdom Ever Limited (the "Chargee") over, among other things, all those ordinary shares having a par value of HK\$0.01 each in the capital of and issued by KEE Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2011) which are owned (whether beneficially or legally) by the Chargor, which are deposited or to be deposited in our Custodian Account with us and the Additional Rights in relation thereto including all your rights both present and future against us with respect to the Custodian Account and credit balance (if any) from time to time of the Custodian Account. Capitalised terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Notice. We confirm that as at the date of this Acknowledgement:

- (a) we undertake that we will, immediately upon receipt by us, deposit the Charged Assets into the Custodian Account;
- (b) we have not received any prior notice of assignment, mortgage or charge to or in favour of any person in respect of the Charged Assets;
- (c) we have no beneficial interest or other rights in the Charged Assets save and except pursuant to the Client Agreement; and
- (d) we will comply with the terms of the Notice, a copy of which is attached hereto, to the extent our rights and interests under the Client Agreement are not prejudiced by such compliance.

We also undertake during the period between the date of the service of the Notice on us and the date of release and/or discharge of the Share Charge:

1. not to take any action which may prejudice the Chargee's rights in respect of the Charged Assets or our rights against the Central Clearing and Settlement System

- established and operated by the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or any other person in respect of the Charged Assets; and
- 2. to notify you of any event or circumstance of which we become aware which would or might affect or limit your rights under the Charges, or our or the Chargor's rights in respect of the Charged Assets.

We agree that during the period between the date of the service of the Notice on us and the date of release and/or discharge of the Share Charge, the terms of this Acknowledgement and the Notice shall override the Client Agreement and all other agreements entered into between the Chargor and us from time to time to the extent that any such agreements are inconsistent with the terms in the Acknowledgement and the Notice. We further agree that during the period between the date of the service of the Notice on us and the date of release and/or discharge of the Share Charge we will not assert any lien or right of set-off in respect of the Charged Assets or any monies or rights arising in respect thereof against you in respect of any claim we may have against the Chargor (other than in connection with and to the extent only of the recovery of our customary fees, costs and expenses solely in connection with the operation and administration of the Custodian Account). Under no circumstances are we or any of our affiliates, directors, officers or staff be held liable (including third-party liability) for any direct or indirect losses or direct, indirect, accidental, special or consequential damages in connection with and/or related to the arrangement provided in this Acknowledgement, whether in tort, contract or otherwise and in the event if this Acknowledgement is required to be disclosed or produced to any competent authorities, you shall, to the extent permissible by laws, notify us immediately.

This Acknowledgement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Hong Kong.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of [Lego Securities Limited]

#### **SCHEDULE 4**

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY AND PROXY

#### KEE Holdings Company Limited

The undersigned, Golden Diamond Inc., hereby constitutes and appoints Noble Wisdom Ever Limited to be our Power of Attorney and Proxy to appear, vote and otherwise act, all in the name, place and stead of the undersigned in the same way that the undersigned might do and with the same powers, with respect to all of the shares in KEE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED (Stock Code: 2011 HK) (hereinafter called "KEE Holdings"), owned or hereinafter acquired by the undersigned, at any and all meetings of the shareholders of KEE Holdings, on any and all matters, questions and resolutions that may come before such meetings, including, but not limited to, the election of directors or at any adjournment or adjournments thereof, or to consent on behalf of the undersigned in the absence of a meeting to anything that might have been voted on at such a meeting.

The undersigned hereby irrevocably authorises the Power of Attorney and Proxy or any of its directors to complete, date and put into effect the annexed (i) bought and sold note, (ii) form of transfer and (iii) transfer/settlement instruction at any time the shares in KEE Holdings has become enforceable as determined by the Power of Attorney and Proxy in its reasonable discretion.

The Power of Attorney and Proxy named herein is hereby given full power of substitution and revocation and may act through such agents, nominees or substitute Attorneys as it may from time to time appoint.

The power of such Power of Attorney and Proxy shall include (without limiting its general powers hereunder) the power to receive and waive any notice of any meeting on behalf of the undersigned.

And the undersigned agrees to ratify and confirm all that the said Power of Attorney and Proxy or its substitutes duly appointed shall do in the name, place and stead of the undersigned pursuant hereto.

IN WITNESS whereof the undersigned has hereunto executed this Power of Attorney as a deed

the day of July 2019.

Executed as a DEED by	)
	)
for and on behalf of	Ś
GOLDEN DIAMOND INC.	)
in the presence of	)

In witness whereof this Deed has been executed as a deed on the date stated above.

# THE CHARGOR

#### EXECUTED AND DELIVERED

# AS A DEED

for and on behalf of

GOLDEN DIAMOND INC.

by\_\_\_\_\_LIN\_PING

Title: DIRECTOR

)

Witness name:

in the presence of:

Witness title: Witness address:

Sze Ka Yee Solicitor Locke Lord Hong Kong SAR 12

# THE CHARGEE

**SIGNED** for and on behalf of NOBLE WISDOM EVER LIMITED NONE YAN Director by\_\_ Title: in the presence of: PINM

Witness name: CHTN GANG

Witness title:

Director

Director

THE Witness address: